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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
D 08 Civ.
-against- : ECF CASE
BIOVAIL CORPORATION,
EUGENE N. MELNYK,
BRIAN CROMBIE, :
JOHN MISZUK, and e COMPLAINT

KENNETH G. HOWLING,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission, for its Complaint against
Defendants Biovail Corporation (“Biovail” or the “Company”), Eugene N. Melnyk, Brian
Crombie, John Miszuk and Kenneth G. Howling (collectively, “Defendants™), alleges as follows:

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

1. This case involves chronic fraudulent conduct — including financial reporting

fraud and other intentional public misrepresentations — by Biovail Corporation, a Canadian



pharmaceutical company whose common stock is traded on the New York and Toronto stock
exchanges. Obsessed with meeting quarterly and annual earnings guidance, Biovail’s executives
repeatedly overstated earnings and hid losses in order to deceive investors and create the
appearance of achieving that goal. And, when it ultimately became impossible to continue to
conceal the Company’s poor performance, Biovail actively misled investors and analysts as to its
cause. This corrupt strategy was employed by Biovail’s most senior officers: Eugene Melnyk,
former chairman and chief executive officer; Brian Crombie, former chief financial officer; John
Miszuk, vice president, controller, and assistant secretary; and Kenneth G. Howling, current
chief financial officer and former vice president of finance and corporate affairs.

2. The financial reporting fraud involves three accounting schemes that affected
reporting periods from 2001 to 2003. They are: (1) a transaction through which Biovail, over -
several reporting periods in 2001 and 2002, improperly moved off its financial statements and
onto the financial statements of a special purpose entity known as Pharmatech the expenses
incurred in the research and development of some of Biovail’s products that totaled
approximately $47 million through September 30, 2002 and related liabilities that exceeded
approximately $51 million through that date; (2) a fictitious bill and hold transaction that Biovail
concocted to record approximately $8 million in revenue in the second quarter of 2003; and -

(3) the intentional misstatement of foreign exchange losses that caused Biovail’s second quarter
2003 loss to be understated by about $3.9 million.

3. In addition, in October 2003, Biovail intentionally and falsely attributed nearly
- half of its failure to meet its third quarter 2003 earnings guidance to a truck accident invol\./ing a
shipment of Biovail’s product, Wellbutrin XL. Biovail intentionally misstated both the effect of
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the accident on Biovail’s third quarter earnings as well as the valﬁe of the product involved in the
truck accident. The accident, in fact, had no effect on third quarter earnings.

4. -Each of Biovail’s fraudulent accounting schemes had a material effect on
Biovail’s financial statements for the relevant quarters and years and was engineered by
Biovail’s senior management in order to manage Biovail’s earnings. In effecting these schemes,
Biovail management also intentionally deceived its auditors as to the true nature of the
transactions. The truck accident misstatements were intended to and did mislead analysts and
the investing public concerning the significance of Biovail’s failure to meet its own earnings
guidance.

5. Biovail’s then-chairman and chief executive, Eugene Melnyk, also violated share
ownership disclosure provisions by failing to identify in his Schedule 13D filings his beneficial
ownership of Biovail shares held by several trusts he settled in the late 1990s. Melnyk
transferred the Biovail shares from his personal holdings to the trusts. However, because
Melnyk continued to exercise both investment and trading authority over the shares in the trusts,
Melnyk remained a beneficial owner of the securities and was under a legal obligation to

disclose that ownership and material changes to it.

VIOLATIONS
0. By virtue of the foregoing conduct:
a. Biovail, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, has engaged in acts,

practices, and courses of business that constitute violations of Section
17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C.
§ 77q(a)], Sections 10(b) 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C.

§8§ 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 10b-5,
12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16, and Rule 302(b) of Regulation S-T [17 C.F.R.
§§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-16, and 232.302(b)].
Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling, directly or indirectly, singly or
in concert, have engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business that
constitute violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.

§ 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.E.R. § 240.10b-5].

Crombie, Idirectly or indirectly, singly or in concert, has engaged in acts,
practices, and courses of business that constitute violations of Section
17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

Melnyk, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, has engaged in acts,
practices, and courses of business that constitute violations of Section
13(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(d)] and Rules 13d-1 and
13d-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13d-1 and 240.13d-2].

Crombie and Miszuk, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have
engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business that constitute
violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.

§ 78m(b)(5)] and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1 and

240.13b2-2].



Crombie, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, has engaged in acts,
practices, and courses of business that constitute violations of Rule 13a-14
[17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14].

By virtue of the conduct described herein, Crombie and Miszuk are also
each liable, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, as an aider and
abettor of Biovail’s violations of Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a),
78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-
1617 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-»5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-16].

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and Section 21(d)(1) of the Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1)] seeking to restrain and permanently enjoin Biovail, Melnyk,

Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling from engaging in the acts, practices, and courses of business

alleged herein. The Commission also seeks a final judgment:

a.

ordering Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling to disgorge any
ill-gotten gains and to pay prejudgment interest thereon;

ordering Biovail and Crombie to pay civil money penalties pursuant to
Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)];

ordering Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling to pay civil
money penalties pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act

15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)]; and
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d. permanently barring Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling from acting
as an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of secuﬁties
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781] or
that ié required to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act[15 U.S.C. § 780(d)].

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Sections 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.
§§ 78u(e) and 78aa].

9. Venue is proper under Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v]
because a registered offering of Biovail’s securities took place in, among other places, the
Southern District of New York. Venue is proper under Section 27 of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78aa] because certain of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business
alleged in this Complaint took place in the Southern District of New York.

10. Biovail and Crombie, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have made use
of means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or of the
mails, in connection with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this
. Complaint.

11. Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling, directly or indirectly, singly or
in concert, have made use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the
mails, or of a facility of a national securities exchange, in connection with the transactions, acts,

practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint.



THE DEFENDANTS

12. Biovail Corporation, a foreign private issuer, is a pharmaceutical company

incorporated under the laws of Ontario, Canada. Its headquarters are in Mississauga, Ontario,
and it has facilities in the United States, Canada, Ireland, and Puerto Rico. As a foreign private
issuer, Biovail files annual reports on Form 20-F and furnishes interim financial statements to the
Commission on Form 6-K. During the relevant time period, Biovail included in its annual and
interim reports financial statements purportedly prepared in accordance with both U.S. and
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Since 2006, Biovail has been providing
financial statements prepared only iﬁ accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”).

13. Eugene Melnyk, age 48, is a Canadian citizen and a resident of St. Philip,

Barbados. Melnyk is the founder of Biovail and served as its chairman and as a director from
March 1994 through June 2007. From December 2001 to October 2004, Melnyk also was
Biovail’s chief executive officer. Melnyk resigned as a director and chairian of Biovail
effective June 30, 2007. |

14. Brian Crombie, age 47, is a Canadian citizen and a resident of Mississauga,

Ontario. He was Biovail’s chief financial officer from May 2000 to August 2004. In August
2004, Crombie was removed as chief financial officer and became Biovail’s senior vice president
for strategic development. As of May 2007, Crombie no longer holds any position with the

Company.



15. John Miszuk, age 54, is a Canadian citizen and a resident of Mississauga,
Ontario. He was in 2003, and is now, a vice president, controller, and assistant secretary of
Biovail.

16. Kenneth G. Howling, age 49, is a U.S. citizen and a resident of Toronto, Ontario.

On December 6, 2006, the Company announced Howling’s promotion to his current position of
senior vice-president and chief financial officer. He also was the Company’s chief financial
officer from 1997 to 2000. From 2000 to 2003, he Was Biovail’s vice president of finance, and
in 2003 he assumed additional responsibilities for external communications to investors and
analysts when his title changed to vice president, finance and corporate éffairs. He is a certified
public accountant licensed in New Jersey, but is not a Canadian chartered accountant.

FACTS

A. Misrepresentations Concerning the October 2003 Truck Accident

17. On September 30, 2003, a truck carrying a shipment of a Biovail product,
Wellbutrin XL, left Biovail’s Steinbach, Manitoba, plant bound for the Noﬁh Carolina facility of
a major international pharmaceutical company that distributed the product (the “Distributor”).
On October 1, 2003, while en route to North Carolina, the truck was involved in a multi-vehicle

traffic accident on a highway in Illinois.

18.  The value of the product on the truck that was involved in the accident was about
$5 million.
19. Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, and Howling issued two press releases and made

numerous other public statements declaring that the loss of revenue and income associated with
the truck accident contributed significantly to Biovail’s substantial revenue shortfall for the third
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quarter of 2003 in the amount of $10 million to $20 million, or about 23% to 38% of the total
announced revenue shortfall for the quarter.

20.  The press releases and other repeated public statements were materially false and
misleading. The truck accident had no impact on Biovail’s financial results for the quarter, as
Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, and Howling knew or recklessly dfsregarded. In addition, in the
press releases and other public statements, Biovail, Melnyk, and Crombie grossly overstated the
revenue value of the shipment involved in the truck accident.

The Truck Accident Had No Impact on Biovail’s Third Quarter Revenues

21.  Under U.S. GAAP, revenue fnay be recognized on the sale of a product like
Wellbutrin XL when, among other things, delivery of the product by the seller to the buyer has
-occurred.
22. Pursuant to Biovail’s agreement with the Distributor, all deliveries of Wellbutrin
XL were subject to the term “F.0.B., [the Distributor’s] facilities in the U.S.A. (freight collect).”
This “F.O.B. Destination” delivery term meant that delivery occurred — and Biovail’s revenue
recognition would have been appropriate — only when the product reached the Distributor’s
facilities in the United States.
23.  Under the FOB Destination shipping term — the term actually in effect — the truck
accident had no impact on Biovail’s third quarter financial results because the truck left
| Manitoba on September 30, which was too late for it to reach the Distributor’s North Carolina
- facility prior to the end of the quarter. Under those circumstances, Biovail could not have

recognized revenue resulting from the shipment regardless of the accident.



24.  The deliberate misrepresentations by Melnyk, Crombie, Howling, and Biovail
were based on the false premise that the delivery term was “F.O.B. Biovail,” pursuant to which
delivery would have occurred — and Biovail could have recognized the revenue from the sale — at
the time the product left Biovail’s facility.

25.  However, even if the shipping term were FOB Biovail, the truck accident would
have had no impact on Biovail’s third quarter financial results because the title to the product —
and the risk associated with the accident —would have passed to the Distributor as soon as the
truck left Biovail’s Manitoba plant. Under those circumstances, Biovail could have recognized
revenue resulting from the shipment regardless of the accident.

26. Névertheless, Melnyk, Crombie, Howling, and Biovail repeatedly and falsely
attributed the Company’s third quarter revenue shortfall to the truck accident.

The October 3 Press Release and Conference Call

217. On October 3, 2003, Biovail issued a press release announcing that its third
quarter 2003 “revenues [would] be below previously issued guidance and will be in the range of
$215 million to $235 million and earnings per share of $0.35 to $0.45.” The revenues were
below the guidance the Company had issued in February 2003 by about $45 million to
$65 million and the earnings per share range were below the February estimate by $0.23 at both
ends of the range. This was the first time that Biovail had ever failed to meet its quarterly
guidance.

28.  The October 3 release falsely attributed a significant part of the revenue shortfall
to the truck accident: “Contributing significantly to this unfavorable variance was the loss of |

revenue and income associated with a significant in-transit shipment loss of Wellbutrin XL as a
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result of a traffic accident.” This statement was materi.ally false and misleading, as Melnyk,
Crombie, Howling, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded.

29.  The October 3 press release also grossly overstated the revenue value of the
Wellbutrin XL shipment involved in the accident: “Revenue associated with this shipment is in
the range of $10 to $20 million.” This statement was materially false and misleading, as
Melnyk, Crombie, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded.

30.  The October 3 press release was issued by Howling’s office under his supervision
and his name appears on it as the contact person. Beginning on October 2, Melnyk, Crombie,
and Howlirig worked together on drafting the materially false and misleading October 3 press
release. Howling drafted the release base;d on information he received from the otheré, including
an initial draft press release that Crombie had prepared earlier in the day on October 2 and
forwarded to both Melnyk and Howling. Crombie’s initial draft set forth the actual delivery term
(i.e., F.O.B. Destination) and stated correctly that the revenue from the product involved in the
truck accident could not be recognized in the third quarter.

31.  Despite the corréct statemenfs in Crombie’s initial draft, the October 3 release
prepared by Howling, reviewed and edited by Melnyk and Crombie, énd 1ssued by the Company
was false and misleadjng in that it stated that the truck accident contributed significantly to the
third quarter revenue shortfall.

32. | Although Crombie knew that the true value of the product on the truck involved
in the accident was approximately $5 million, he provided Howling with a falsely inflated

valuation of $10 to $20 million for Howling to include in the press release.
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33.  Melnyk, Crombie, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded that the statement
in the October 3 press release concerning the value of the product involved in the truck accident
was niaterially false and misleading.

34. - Later on October 3, Melnyk, Crombie, and Howling participated in a conference
call with analysts in which Melnyk falsely stated: “This accident will have a negative financial
impact on Biovail’s third quarter revenues.” Melnyk later in the call said again, “It is a third
quarter item.” Melnyk, Crombie, Howling, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded that
these statements by Melnyk were materially false aﬁd misleading.

35. On the same conference call, Crombie falsely said, “The unfortunate incident . . .
will have a material negative effect on Biovail’s third quarter revenue and earnings.” He also
falsely told the analysts on the call, “Our contract with [the Distributor] has title change in
Manitoba when it leaves our shipping dock.” In fact, as Melnyk, Crombie, and Howling knew or
recklessly disregarded, title to the product would change only upon arrival at the Distributor’s
facility in the United States, and therefore Bioyail could not have recognized third quarter
revenue on the shipment even if the accident had not occurred.

36.  On the same call, Crombie referred to the value of the shipment as “$15 million to
$20 million” — three to four times the actual revenue value. He also noted, “As é result of this
accident, Biox'/ail currently estimates that its total third quarter revenues from Wellbutrin XL will
now be below $10 million.” Melnyk, Crombie, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded that
these statements were materially false and misleading,

3.7. Howling participated in the conference call on October 3, 2003 and helped
prepare the script for it. Although he knew or recklessly disregarded that the truck accident had
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no impact on the Biovail’s third quarter financial results, he remained silent during the call and
did not correct any of the materially false and misleading statements that Melnyk and Crombie
made during the call claiming that the accident did have such an impact.

The October 8 Press Release

38. On October 8, 2003, an investment bank research analyst issued a research report
with a Biovail sell rating (the “Report”). In the Report, the analyst questioned both Biovail’s
valuation of the product lost due to the accident as well as the Company’s assertion of when title
to the product transferred.

39. . Howling received a copy of the Report on October 8 and he promptly forwarded
to Melnyk and Crombie the portion of the Report questioning the value of the shipment involved
in the truck accident, suggesting that someone in finance draft responses to the issues raised.
Soon after, Howling forwarded the entire Report to Melnyk and Crombie.

40.  Following circulation of the Report, other research analysts asked Howling many
questions about the quantity of product on the truck, the value of that product, and the wide
range of value Biovail had given on October 3.

41.  Also on October 8, an employee at the Distributor called and emailed Howling in
order to correct some of the misstatements in the October 3 press release aﬁd conference call.
The email, which Howling forwarded to Melnyk and Crombie, said that Biovail’s conference
call statement on when title to the product passed to the Distributor was “an incorrect statement,
as the [agreement between Biovail and the Distributor] provides that title to and risk of loss with
respect to the product would not have passed to [the Distributor] until the product was delivered
to [the Distributor’s] facility in the U.S.A.”
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42.  Hours later — while under fire from analysts and investors as a result of the
Report — Biovail issued a second press release that announced the recovery and salability of the
product involved in the accident and “re-confirm[ed] that the sales value of these goods is within
previously stated guidance.” Melnyk dictated the October 8 press release, which both Crombie
and Howling reviewed and. edited prior to its issuance. The October 8 press release was issued
by Howling’s office under his supervision and his name appears on it as the contact person.

43.  The October 8 press release was deliberately and materially false and misleading.
Even though Melnyk, Crombie, Howling, and Biovail all knew or recklessly disregarded that the
truck accident had no impact on third quarter revenues, the October 8 press release was silent on
that subject. This was a material omission.

44, Moreover, Melnyk, Crombie, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded that the
statement in the October 8 press release reconfirming the October 3 guidance concerning the
value of the product involved in the accident was materially false and misleading because they
knew that the value in the October 3 press release was deliberately overstated.

QOctober 10-15 Road Show

45.  Inthe days immediately following October 8, there was a perception inside
Biovail that management’s credibility had been attacked by the Report on October 8. Bio.vail
wanted to address these credibility concerns and other issues with investors, including any
questions about Biovail’s ability to meet anticipated market demand for Wellbutrin XL..

46. To this end, on October 10, 13, 14, and 15, 2003, Biovail executives Melnyk,

Crombie, and Howling conducted a road show in New York, Boston, and other cities to meet

14



with market analysts and investors. During the road show, the Biovail executives talked about,
among other things, the matters discussed in the Corﬁpany’s October 3, 2003 press release.

47.  Theroad shov& presentation included slides that repeated falsely that the truck
accident’s impact on Biovail’s third quarter 2003 revenue was $10 to $20 million. In addition to
the slides, the executives ét the road show provided commentary reiterating the false statements
in the October 3 press rel.ease. At the time of these misstatements, Melnyk, Crombie, Howling,
and Biovail all knew or deliberately disregarded that the statements attributing part of the third
quarter revenue shortfall to the truck accident were materially false and misleading. Melnyk,
Crombie, and Biovail also knew or recklessly disregarded that the road show statements
concerning the yalue of the product on the truck were materially false and misleading.

The Misstatements Were Never Fully Corrected

48. On March 3, 2004, in its annual earnings release Biovail finally acknowledged
that the revenue associated with the product involved in the truck accident was only about
$5 million rather than the $10 to $20 million previously stated on October 3, 2003. Even this
release, however, did not acknowledge that the truck accident had no impact on Biovail’s third
quarter revenues.

B. Material Misstatements Related to Pharmatech

49.  Inmid-2001, Biovail sought to increase net income by removing from its books
the research and development costs associated with a key mid-term product pipeline. To achieve
this goal, Biovail created a special purpose entity, Pharmaceutical Technologies Corp. (known as

Pharmatech), to carry those costs.
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50. Aﬁd despite the fact that research and development costs were expected to be in
the tens of millions of dollars, with some estimates as high as $120 million, Pharmatech’s sole
shareholder, whom Biovail secured, invested only $1 million in the company, of which $350,000
was immediately refundable as a fee.

51.  Biovail secured financing for Pharmatech from its own lender (the “Bank”), based
on Crombie’s assurances that, if at any time the Bank chose not to renew the Pharmatech
financing, Biovail would likely purchase Pharmatech and retire the debt.

52.  Crombie and Biovail deliberately and fraudulently orchestrated the Pharmatech
arrangement as a means fraudulently to avoid recording on Biovail’s books and records and
reporting on its financial statements the expenses and liabilities related to the research and
development of certain Biovail products. Crombie knew, and told the Bank, that it was probable
that Biovail would repay Pharmatech’s debt to the Bank when it first came due after one year,
regardless of the outcome of the research and development at that point, if the Bank did not
renew the financing. Crombie and Biovail understood that under those circumstances U.S.
GAAP required Biovail to record Pharmatech’s expenses and liabilities related to Pharmatech’s
research and development of the products and to include them on its own financial statements.

53.  Nevertheless, Crombie and Biovail deliberately did not recognize and record
Pharmatech’s liabilities or charge its research developfnent costs to expense as incurred on
Biovail’s books and recérds and did not include them on Biovail’s financial statements. Instead,
Crombie intentionally misled Biovail’s auditors as to the true nature of the arrangement in order

to secure from the auditors an opinion letter supporting Biovail’s accounting for the arrangement.
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The Applicable Accounting Principles

54.  The applicable U.S. GAAP guidance in Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 68, Research and Development Arrangements (“SFAS 68”), provides that an
enterprise that is a party to a research and development arrangement that allows it to obtain the
results of research and development funded partially or entirely by others must estimate and
recognize the liability on its own books and records if the enterprise is obligated to repay any of
the funds provided by the other parties,‘regardless of the outcome of the research and
devel(;pment. Under such circumstances, SFAS 68 also requires the enterprise to charge the
research and development costs to expense as incurred.

55.  Evenin the absence of a written agreement or contract requirihg repayment by the
enterprise, SFAS 68 sets forth a presumption that the enterprise has an obligation to repay the
other parties if surrounding conditions suggest that it is probable that the enterprise will repay
any of the funds regardless of the outcome of the research and development. That presumption
can be overcome only by substantial evidence to the contrary. “Probable” in this context means
that repayment is likely.

56.  SFAS 68 provides examples of circumstances under which there is a presumption
of a repayment obli gation, including, among others, that the enterprise has indicated an intent to
repay all or a portion of the funds provided regardless of the outcome of the research and
development.

The Agreements Between Biovail and Pharmatech

57.  Pharmatech was incorporated in Barbados on June 29, 2001 and, on the same day;,

it entered into a Product Development and Royalty Agreement with Biovail’s Barbados
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subsidiary, Biovail Laboratories, Inc. In this agreement, ‘Pharmatech agreed to pay all the costs
and expenses required to obtain regulatory approval of certain products in Biovail’s midterm
product pipeline, and Biovail granted Pharmatech a license to use the technologies necessary to
develop the products. |

| 58. Biovail also agreed to pay Pharmatech a royalty calculated as a percentage of the
net sales of each successfully developed and approved product. Although the royalty payments
would continue for ten years after each product’s launch, Biovail could terminate the réyalty .
obligation at any time upon thirty days notice and instead pay a contractually specified amount
that increased over time depending on the date of the termination notice.

59. In a related Advisory Agreement, Biovail also agreed to guide Pharmatech in the
development of the products.

60.  The products included in the Pharmatech portfolio were those that could be
launched within two to five years. The intention was to improve on drugs that were already in
the market by providing new drug delivery formulations that could enhance effectiveness and
increase patient compliance.

61.  Several of the products were being developed to use controlled release technology
that allowed for the gradual and predictable release of active ingredients over twelve or twenty
four hours. Other’products were to use the FlashDose drug delivery system, in which the product
dissolves rapidly on the user’s tongue.

62.  Biovail had obtained the FlashDose technology in November 1999 by acquiring
another pharmaceutical company for approximately $250 million. That purchase was a
significant acquisition and both the FlashDose and controlled release technologies were
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important to Biovail. Although in June 2001, it was not certain that the FlashDose or controlled
release technologies could be combined effectively and safely with any of the products in the
Pharmatech portfolio, Biovail told the Bank that the products comprised its key mid-term
product pipeline.

63.  In connection with the agreement with Pharmatech, Biovail also entered into a
Share Option Agreement with Pharmatech’s sole stockholder. This agreement permitted Biovail
to purchase all of the stockholder’s Pharmatech shares at any time until December 31, 2006, in
exchange for a fixed purchase price that ranged from $1.25 million to $5 million depending on
the date Biovail exercised the share purchase option.

Pharmatech’s Agreement with the Bank

64. Althouéh Pharmatech agreed to pay the costs of developing the products, it had
little working capital with which to do so. The sole stockholder’s cépital investment was just
$1 million and the new company had no sources of revenue and no assets other than the potential
future royalty payments and the license from Biovail to use the FlashDose and controlled release
technologies in developing the products.

65.  To address this problem Crombie approached several potential lenders but
ultimately only the Bank agreed to provide financing. Since the 1990’s the Bank had served as
Biovail’s primary lender extending hundreds of millions of dollars in financing to Biovail
through a credit facility.

66.  Inalune 29, 2001 agreement, the Bank agreed to extend credit to Pharmatech in
the maximum aggregate amount of $60 million for 364 days, at which time the outstanding debt
would become due and payable. Pharmatech, however, could seek a 364-day extension of the
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credit facility, which the Bank could grant or deny in its discretion. As collatefal, Pharmatech
granted the Bank a security interest in the Product Development and Royalty Agreement,
including the potential future royalty payments and the license to use the crucial technology to
develop the products. In the event of default, the Bank would also have the right to assign
Pharmatech’s rights under the agreement to a third party, including the right to continue
development of the products using the FlashDose and controlled release technologies.

67.  In connection with the financing, Biovail provided a comfort lettér addressed to
the Bank stating that, if Biovail exercised its share purchase option, Biovail would arrange to
repay in full on or before June 30, 2004 any outstanding balance then due. Thus, the probability
that Biovail would repay Pharmatech’s' debt to the Bank turned on the likelihood that Biovail
would exercise its share purchase option if the Bank did not renew the loan after one year.

68. Crombie made clear to the Bank during the discussions about financing that
Biovail probably would repay the Bank regardless of the outcome of the product development.
Specifically, Crombie told the Bank that: (1) Biovail had a compelling business incentive to
acquire Pharmatech and repay the loan because Biovail would want the royalties from any
successfully developed products; (2) in any event; Biovail did not want its competitors acquiring
access to the license to use the FlashDose (which Biovail had paid $250 million to acquire) 6r |
controlled release technologies that Biovail had assigned to Pharmatech; and (3) the Bank had an
effective “annual puf” to Biovail, meaning that, when the credit facility came up for review after
one year, if the Bank declined to extend the financing, the Bank could expect Biovail to acquire

Pharmatech and repay the indebtedness.
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The Auditors’ Opinion Letter

69. In connection with the Pharmatech transaction, Biovail obtained from its auditors
an opinion letter concerning the accounting implications of the transaction. Among other things,
the opinion letter analyzed the deal in light of SFAS 68. The letter contains a table summarizing
in one column the factors specified in SFAS 68 and in a parallel column the information
Crombie provided to the auditors on each of those factors. Crombie knew that the auditors
would rely upon that factual information in issuing their opinion, and they did rely on it.

70.  Specifically, in order to secure the opinion letter from Biovail’s auditors, Crombie
made the following misstatements to the auditors:

e Crombie told the auditors that Biovail’s management did not believe that it was
probable that Biovail would repay the amounts being advanced and that the
funding provided by others should not be recorded as a liability.

e Crombie told the auditors that Biovail had not provided any explicit or implicit
undertakings to any parties involved in the transaction to repay all or a portion of
the funds provided.

¢ Crombie told the auditors that Biovail’s management did not currently believe

that it was probable that it would choose to purchase the common shares of
Pharmatech rather than incur any penalty.

71.  Crombie’s statements to the auditors were materially false and misleading.
Crombie also omitted to tell the accountants what he was contemporaneously telling the Bank.
In particular, Crombie failed to tell the auditors that he had told the Bank that in the event of a
Pharmatech default, Biovail would have a compelling business incentive to exercise its option to
acquire Pharmatech and repay the indebtedness to thé Bank. Crombie also did not tell the
auditors that he had told thé Bank that the annual loan renewal mechanism was effectively an
“annual put” to Biovail. Similarly, Crombie did not tell the auditors that he had told the Bank
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that Biovail would not want to see the technology license in which the Bank had taken a security

interest fall into the hands of Biovail’s competitors. These were material omissions.

Biovail’s Purchase of Pharmatech When the Bank Did Not Renew the Financing

72. At the conclusion of the initial year of financing, in June 2002, the Bank extended
Pharmatech’s ﬁnahcing but only for six more months, until December 31, 2002. As early as
October 2002, Biovail management began to conclude that the Bank would neither renew the
credit facility on December 31, 2002 nor increase its limit. Finally,'on December 24, 2002,
Crombie learned definitively that the Bank would not extend any additional funds to Pharmatech.

73.  Three days later, Biovail sent a letter notifying the Pharmatech stockholder that
Biovail intended to exercise the purchase option. Consistént with the “put” representations
Crombie had made to the Bank, Biovail bought Pharmatech when the Bank decided not to extend
additional financing; and repaid the Bank in full. Biovail’s actions confirm that the Company’é
intention always was to exercise its purchase option and repay the Bank if the credit facility was |
not extended.

False and Misleading Public Filings

74.  Biovail’s interim financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2001
and for the nine months ended September 30, 2061 were furnished to the Commission on Form
6-K on November 13, 2001. Biovail’s interim financial statements for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002 were furnished to the Commission on Form 6-K on May 30, 2002. Biovail’s
interim financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 were furnished to the
Commission on Form 6-K on August 29, 2002. On that date Crombie signed a certification
stating the Form 6-K report “fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
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results of operations of the Company.” Crombie and Biovail knew, or recklessly disregarded,
that this representation was materially false and misleading.

75.  Biovail’s interim financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2002
were furnished to the Commission on Form 6-K on November 25, 2002. On that date Crombie
signed a certification stating the Form 6-K report “fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.” Crombie and Biovail knew, or
recklessly disregarded, that this représentation was materially false and misleading. -

76.  Biovail’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2001 was signed by
Crombie and filed with the Commission on Form 20-F on May 17, 2002. Biovail’s annual
report for the year ended December 31, 2002 was signed by Crombie and filed with the
Commission on May 20, 2003. On that date, Crombie also signed a certification stating that the
Form 20-F feport “fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.” Crombie and Biovail knew, or recklessly disregarded, that this
representation was materially false and misleading.

77.  As adirect result of Crombie’s and Biovail’s intentional failure to record on
Biovail’s books and records a total of approximately $47 million in Pharmatech’s expenses and
more than approximately $51 million in liabilities related to the research and development
through Septerﬁber 30, 2002, Biovail’s financial statements were materially misstated. In
addition, during the fourth quarter of 2002, Biovail did not charge to expense as incurred more
than $10 million in additional Pharmatech expenses and did not timely recognize and record on
Biovail’s books and records additional relgtéd liabilities that Pharmatech incurred during that

quarter.
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78.  Specifically, Biovail’s financial reports were materially false and misleading in
that they did not include Pharmatech’s research and development expenses, causing: (1) net
income to be overstated by approximately 50% in the third quarter 2001, 32% in the 2001 annual
financial statements, 15% in the first quarter 2002, 18% in the second quarter 2002, and 16% in
the third quarter 2002, and understated by approximately 17% in the 2002 annual financial
statements; and (2) net income excluding certain charges to be overstated by approximately 25%
in the third quarter 2001, 12% in the 2001 annual financial statements, 16% in the third quarter
2002, and 17% in the 2002 annual financial statements.

79. Biovail’s balance sheets included in the financial reports also were materially
false and misleading because they did not include Pharmatech’s liability to the Bank, causing
Biovail’s total liabilities to be understated by approximately 2% in the third quarter 2001, 11% at
year-end 2001, 5% in the first quarter 2002, 5% in the second quarter 2002, and 7% in the third
quarter 2002.

80.  Crombie and Biovail knew, or recklessly disregarded, that the financial statements
identified above were materially false and misleading.

81.  During the period when Biovail’s financial statements were intentionally and
materially misstated as a result of the Pharmatech fraud, Biovail conducted a registered offering
in which it sold 12.5 million of its common shares and raised gross proceeds of approximately
$587.5 million. The prospectus supplement for fhis offering, filed on November 15, 2001,
incorporated by reference Biovail’s intentionally and materially false and misleading financial
statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2001 furnished to the Commission on the
Company’s Form 6-K dated November 13, 2001.
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82.  Crombie and Biovail knew, or recklessly disregarded, that Biovail’s materially
false and misleading financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2001 were
incorporated by reference into the prospectus supplement dated November 15, 2001.

C. A Sham Bill and Hold Transaction in June 2003

83. In the second quarter of 2003, both product revenue and total revenue were below
even the low end of Biovail’s previously issued guidance for the quarter, and the Company was
in dangér of missing earnings expectations for the first time in its history. Rather than
acknowledge its poor performance that quarter, Crombie, Miszuk, and Biovail fraudulently and
improperly recognized and recorded approximately $8 million in additional revenue from a
phony sale of Wellbutrin XL, a drug that analysts considered crucial to the Company’s health.
As aresult, for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, Biovail’s net loss was intentionally and
materially understated by approximately 80% in its interim financial statements that Biovail
furnished to the Commission on Form 6-K on August 29, 2003.

Biovail’s Wellbutrin XI. Agreement

84.  Through subsidiaries, Biovail and the Distributor entered into a Development,
License and CoPromotion Agreement in 2001. Pursuant to the agreement, and subject to FDA
apprdval, Biovail was to manufacture Wellbutrin XL and sell it to the Distributor, which would
distribute the product to third-party purchasers. The agreement required Biovail to produce
Wellbutrin XL to be used for two purposes: (1) as sample product that Biovail would deliver in
bulk to the Distributor and that the Distributor would package and distribute to physicians as a

promotional tool; and (2) as trade product that Biovail would package in bottles labeled in
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accordance with the FDA’s requirements and that the Distributor would sell at a commercial
price upon FDA approval.

85.  Asmodified in December 2002, the agreement provided different prices for the
differing dosages of sample product and trade product. Biovail sold sample pills to the
Distributor at fixed prices per tablet, effectively at cost and, at the start of the product launch, at a
loss. Biovail’s Wellbutrin XL revenues for trade product were tied to the Distributor’s net
revenues from its sales to third parties. The agreement provided that Biovail would invoice trade
product shipped to the Distributor at a fixed percentage of the Distributor’s estimated net sales
revenues and the invoicing percentage.would rise as the Distributor’s actual net sales increased
over time. To the extent that the Distributor’s estimate of its net sales revenues was different
from the actual net sales revenue, the agreement contemplated a quarterly reconciliation process.

86.  The FDA issued a letter on June 26, 2003 stating that Wellbutrin XL was
“approvable,” which meant that the FDA required further infomation before the new drug
application could be approved. Among other things, the FDA’s June 26 letter requested revised
draft labeling for the product. The FDA did not finally approve Wellbutrin XL until August 29,
2003.

Biovail’s Need to Generate Trade Product Revenue in June 2003

87.  On February 7, 2003 Biovail published earnings guidance for its fiscal year 2003.
It projected second quarter earnings per share between $0.43 and $0.50, third quarter earnings
per share between $0.58 and $0.68, and annual sales of Wellbutrin XL of between $75 million

and $150 million.
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88.  Wellbutrin XL was a key component of these earnings p.rojections. It was widely
expected that Wellbutrin XL would be the most significant product launch in the Company’s
history. The product, however, could not launch until it received FDA approval. ‘When, by early
June 2003, the FDA still had not yet approved Wellbutrin XL, Biovail executives became
concerned because it was clear that Biovail would not meet its second quarter earnings
projections unless it sold Wellbutrin XL trade product by June 30.

89.  Although Biovail needed to produce prior to approval enough Wellbutrin XL
trade product to enable the Distributor to launch the product promptly, it was risky to
manufacture too many pills before the FDA had determined as part of the approval process what
the product’s shelf life would be because the Distributor could return stale pills to Biovail.
Sample product, however, because it would be given away rather than sold, could be distributed
up until expiration.

90.  In April and May 2003 the Distributor submitted purchase orders for the delivery
of Wellbutrin XL sample pills in June and for delivery of trade product (contingent on FDA
approval of the tréde product packaging) in July.

91.  There were two reasons why the Distributor sought delivery of sample pills before
trade pills: (1) under the agreement, the Distributor was responsible for packaging saﬁple pills
and wanted sufficient quantities on hand early so it could prepare for the launch; and (2) there
was a risk that trade pills could expire unused if they were produced too early.

92. By the middle of June 2003, Biovail had not filled the Distributor’s pending
orders for sample product. At the time, Biovail was experiencing manufacturing problems and,
as a result, was unable to manufacture sufﬁcienf quantities to fill the sample orders. In addition,
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filling sample orders generated no income for Biovail. If Biovail had invoiced and shipped the
inventory as samples during June, it would have sustained a loss because the cost of goods sold
exceeded the contractual samplé prices.

Crombie’s Demand for a Trade Product Order in June

93.  Even though Crombie knew about the production problems, he complained in a
June 19, 2003 letter to the Distributor that Biovail needed the Distributor to place an order for
trade product for June delivery “so that Biovail could be assured that it could book the revenue
associated with those shipments [of trade product] in Q2 0f2003.” He proposed in his letter to
sell to the Distributor as trade product “all of our current production” of Wellbutrin XL.

94.  The Distributor acquiesced in Crombie’s derpand for a June order for trade
peruct in view of Biovail’s threat to turn its manufacturing capacity to other products, since that
could have caused a delay in the Wellbutrin XL launch.

9s. On June 20, 2003, the Distributor placed an order for 27.1 million tablets of trade
product. Since FDA approval was still pending, Biovail could not label the product so the
Distributor agreed to let Biovail hold the product awaiting FDA approval and packaging.
Although Biovail had not manufactured enough pills to meet the order, Biovail purported to
earmark the entire then-existing inventory of Wellbutrin XL in its warehouse, approximately
18 million pills, to fill this “bill and hold” order.

96.  On June 30, 2003, Biovail invoiced the Distributor approximately $8' million for
the product, and recorded a sale at a price that was slightly reduced from the usual trade prices to

reflect that the packaging would not be done — or invoiced — until after FDA approval. The
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parties did not agree, however, on a fixed schedule for delivery of the product because the date
of FDA approval was not yet known.

Apnplicable Accounting Principles

97.  Under U.S. GAAP, revenue may be recognized when it is realized or realizable
and earned. Among other things, this requires that the seller’s price to the buyer be fixed or
determinable. With respect to the sale of a product like Wellbutrin XL, revenue may be
recognized when delivery of the product by the seller to the buyer has occurred.

98. A legitimate bill and hold tranéaction permits revenue recognition absent delivery
provided the following additional criteria under U.S. GAAP are met:

(a) The risk of ownership must have passed to the buyer;

(b) The customer must have made a fixed commitment to purchase the goods,
preferably reflected in written documentation;

(c) The buyer, not the seller, must request that the transaction be on a bill and
hold basis. The buyer must have a substantial business purpose for ordering the
goods on a bill and hold basis;

(d)  There must be a fixed schedule for delivery of the goods. The date for
delivery must be reasonable and must be consistent with the buyer’s business
purpose (e.g., storage periods are customary in the industry);

(e) The seller must not have retained any specific performance obligations
such that the earnings process is not complete;

® The ordered goods must have been segregated from the seller’s inventory
and not be subject to being used to fill other orders; and

(g)  The goods must be complete and ready for shii)ment.

99.  The U.S. GAAP requirements for revenue recognition in general, including the

fixed price requirement, and the additional requirements for a legitimate bill and hold
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transaction, are summarized in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 - Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, which both Crombie and Miszuk reviewed at the time.

100.  Although the bill and hold transaction was not genuine, one requirement in
particular that was plainly and deliberately flouted was the requirement that the ordered goods
must have been segregated from the seller’s inventory and not be subject to being used to fill
other orders. Indeed, the goods supposedly sold in the sham bill and hold transaction and
segregated in the warehouse on June 30, were very soon thereafter designated by Miszuk and
Crombie to fill thé Distributor’s pending orders for sample product and were shipped with new
invoices at different and much lower prices — the sample prices.

The Pills Switch

101.  Although no one knew prior to FDA approval what the expiration date for trade
product would be, Crombie and Miszuk knew in June that all of the tablets then in Biovail’s
inventory — which were supposedly sold to the Distributor in the purported bill and hold
transaction — were already at that time too old for trade use. To avoid potential returns of such
stale pills By the Distributor, and in an attempt to fill the Distributor’s orders for sample pills that
.had been pending since April, Crombie and Miszuk, no later than mid-July — before the close of
Biovail’s second quarter books —~ designated for shipment to the Distributor as sample product
under sample invoices at the lower sample prices the very same pills that Biovail supposedly had
designated and. segregated for the purported on June 30 bill and hold transaction and for which
Biovail had invoiced the Distributor at the higher contractual trade prices.

102. Crorhbie and Miszuk then invented a rationale by which Biovail purportedly
could still recognize th¢ trade sale revenue in the second quarter. They decidéd to replace the
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pills that would now be shipped as sample pills at the lower sample prices with newer pills that
would now become the subject of the June 30 sale. However, as of June 30, replacement pills
did not exist because they had not yet been manufactured.

103.  Crombie’s and Miszuk’s scheme was promptly implemented. By July 18 Biovail
sent the Distributor various schedules showing that Biovail intended to ship to the Distributor
under sample invoices and at the lower sample prices the very same pills that were the subject of
the June 30 trade sale invoices at the higher, trade prices.

104. Crombie and Miszuk made their decision without conferring with Biovail’s
outside auditors and without telling them that the June 30 sale was a bill and hold transaction.
Instead, Crombie and Miszuk led the auditors to understand that a trade shipment had actually
occurred on June 30, which was not true. Miszuk also falsely told thé auditors in connection
‘with their quarterly review that pricing on the June 30 trade product sale was fixed even after he
and Crombie had decided to ship the same pills supposedly sold in that transaction to the
Distributor at the lower sample prices.

105. Moreover, in mid-July, when Miszuk and Crombie designated for shipment the
purportedly segregated goods to fill the sample orders, Biovail still had not yet manufactured the
additional pills that supposedly would replace them for the June 30 trade product lsale. Thus,
there were not sufficient pills in existence to apply to that sale once Crombie and Miszuk
designated the purportedly segregated goods for shipment to fill the pending orders for sample_

pills.
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Intentionally and Materially False and Misleading Public- Statements

106. In late July, Biovail closed its books on the second quarter still recognizing
improperly the approximately $8 million in revenue in connection with the June 30 trade product
sale. On July 29, 2003, Biovail issued an earnings release for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 |
that both Crombie and Miszuk reviewed before its issuance. On the same day, Biovail
conducted a conference call with analysts to discuss the Company’s financial results for the
second quarter.

107.  When Biovail closed its books for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and when the
Company announced its second quarter results on July 29, 2003, Crombie, Miszuk, and Biovail
knew, or recklessly disregarded, that the requirements under U.S. GAAP for revenue recognition
for a bill and hold transaction were not satisfied with respect to the Wellbutrin XL trade product
sale transaction that purportedly occurred on June 30, 2003. Specifically, Crombie, Miszuk, and
Biovail knew, or recklessly disregarded, among other things, that: (a) as of June 30, 2003 there
was no fixed schedule for delivery of the goods; (b) the Distributor had not agreed to pay the
higher prices for trade product if it was shipped and used as sample product; (c) the pills
supposedly segregated for the June 30, 2003 trade sale comprised all of Biovail’s Wellbutrin XL
tablets as of June 30, 2003; and (e) no, or insufficient quantities of, other pills were existing,
manufactured, and available as of June 30 or when Biovail’s second quarter books were closed in
July to replace the supposedly segregated pills once Crombie ahd Miszuk designated them for
shipment to the Distributor to fill the Distributor’s other pending orders for sample product at the

lower sample prices.
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108. As adirect result of the improper recognition of revenue on the phony bill and
hold transaction, the July 29, 2003 earnings release was intentionally and materially false and
misleading. Specifically, the earnings release understated the Company’s net loss for the quarter
by approximately 80% and overstated the company’s net income (excluding acquired R&D) for
the quarter by about 5%.

109. Biovail’s announced earnings appeared to mget its earnings guidance for the
second quarter.

110. Crombie participated in the conference call on July 29, 2003, during which
Howling said, “Additionally, in the second-quarter 2003, approximately $8 million of Wellbutrin
XL was supplied to [the Distributor].” Although Crombie knew or recklessly disregarded at the
time of the conference call that the requirements under U.S. GAAP for revenue recognition for
the purported bill and hold transaction were not satisfied, he omitted to correct Howling’s
misstatement.

111. During August, after the Distributor began receiving the shipments of sample
product, the Distributor notified Biovail that, because the August sample invoices identified the
same tablets that were associated with the June 30 trade invoices, the Distributor would not
process the June 30 trade invoices at that time. This message was forwarded to Crombie and
Miszuk on August 14, 2003.

112. By no later than August 29, 2003, Miszuk, Crombie, and Biovail knew or
recklessly disregarded, among othef things, that during August the Distributor had refused to
process the June 30 invoices for the tradevproduct sale because Biovail was shipping the same

pills under sample invoices at the lower sample prices.
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113. Nevertheless, on August 29, 2003, the Company furnished to the Commission on
Form 6-K Biovail’s second quarter financial statements that were intentionally and materially
félse and misleading. Specifically, as a direct result of the improper recognition of revenuelon
the phony bill and hold transaction, the Company’s net loss was understated by approximately
80%.

114. Miszuk signed this Form 6-K and Crombie also signed a statement that the Form
6-K report “fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.” At this time, Crombie, Miszuk, and Biovail knew, or recklessly
disregérded that the financial statements, and Crombie’s statement, were intentionally and
materially false and misleading because the revenue recognition on the purported June 30 trade
product sale included in the second quarter financial statements was not in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.

115. The neit business day, on September 1, 2003, Biovail issued two credit memos to
the Distributor voiding the two unpaid June 30 trade invoices.

116. On May 14, 2004, Biovail furnished to the Commission on Form 6-K/A restated
financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2003. This restatement corrected material
misstatemenfs resulting from the previously unrecorded and unreported foreign exchange loss
discussed below. But in this 2004 amendment, Biovail continued to reflect the approximately
$8 million in revenue and about $4 million in earnings from the phony June 30 bill and hold
transaction, causing the restated financial statements to understate net loss by about 45%.
Miszuk signed this Form 6-K/A and Crombie also signed a statement that the Form 6-K/A report
“fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
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Company.” At that time, Crombie, Miszuk, and Biovail knew or recklessly disregarded that the
financial statements, and Crombie’s statement, were materially false and misleading because the
revenue recognition on the purported June 30 trade product sale included in the second quarter
financial statements was not in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

117. Biovail’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2003 was signed by
Crombie and filed with the Commission on May 14, 2004. This report presénts restated second
quarter results as they appear in the Form 6-K/A furnished to the Commission the same day, and
like that Form 6-K/A, these restated results continued to reflect the approximately $8 million in
revenue and about $4 million in earnings from the phony June 30 bill and hold transaction,
causing the restated financial results for the second quarter of 2003 set forth in the Form 20-F to
understate net loss by about 45%. On May 14, 2003, Crombie also, signed a certification stating,
among other things, that, based on Crombie’s knowledge: (1) ‘this [Form 20-F] report does not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;” and (2) “the financial statements,
and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report[.]” At this time, Crombie, Miszuk, and Biovail knew or
recklessly disregarded that the Form 20-F, and Crombie’s statement, were materially false and
misleading because the revenue recognition on the purported June 30 trade product sale and

included in the second quarter financial statements was not in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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Crombie’s and Miszuk’s Deception of Biovail’s Auditors

118. Not only did Biovail, Crombie, and Miszuk not seek advice and guidance from
Biovail’s auditors concerﬁing whether the bill and hold accounting was proper, but Crombie and
Miszuk also made material misstatements and omissions about the June trade order to the
auditors in connection with both the second quarter review»and the 2003 annual audit.

119. In connection with the quarterly review, by July 22, Miszuk told the auditors that
pricing was fixed on the June trade order even though, by July 18, he and Crombie already had
designated for shipment as sample pills — at the lower sample prices — the pills purportedly
segregated for the bill and hold sale.

120. Also during the quarterly review, Crombie discussed with the auditors their
request for a confirmation about fixed pricing. In their communications with Crombie and
Miszuk during this time, the auditors referred to the June transaction as a “shipment,” showing
their belief that actual delivery had occurred. Neither Crombie nor Miszuk corrected this
misunderstanding. Similarly, neither Crombie nor Miszuk told the accountants in July that they
had decided to use the pills originally identified on the “bill and hold” invoices to fill the
Distributor’s sample orders at the lower sample prices. They also did not tell the accountants
that Biovail did not have sufficient product on hand to fill both the trade order and the
outstanding sample orders, or even that the Company had treated the June trade proauct sale as a
bill and hold transaction.

121. Miszuk and Crombie similarly failed to tell the auditors during August that the
Distributor was refusing to pay the June invoices because Biovail had shipped to the Distributor
the very same pills under sample invoices, that the available pills were aged and best used as
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samples to avoid returns, and that the Distributor did not agree to pay trade prices if it used the
pills as sample product. Crombie also falsely told the auditors in February 2004 during the year-
end audit that the Distributor’s non-payment of the invoices in connection with the June 2003
transaction was part of a larger problem involving the Distributor’s failure to pay Biovail’s
invoices and had nothing to do with the specific bill and hold transaction.

122.  Miszuk made additional misrepresentations in the management report, a report
circulated to Biovail executives and auditors which purported to provide an overview of the
Company’s quarterly financial performance, including both narrative and financial statements.
Prior to the circulation of the management report to Biovail’s auditors on July 25 and 30, 2003,
Miszuk reviewed and approved the content of the report, which he knew the auditors used as part
of their review process. By including approximately $8 million in revenue associated with the
purported June 30 trade product sale, Biovail’s July 25 and 30, 2003 second quarter 2003
management reports were materially false in two ways: (1) they overstated income and (2) both
falsely asserted that “[a]ll figures contained in [the] report [were] in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.”

123. Only when the auditors again sought information concerning the transaction in
January and February 2004 in connection with the year-end audit —after discovering the credit
memos that reversed the June 2003 transaction — did the accountants bﬁrst learn that Biovail had
recorded the June 30 transactioﬁ as a bill and hold. Even then, neither Miszuk nor Crombie told
the auditors that Biovail had shipped and invoiced as sample product in August the pills

supposedly segregated for the bill and hold transaction in June.
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124.  Crombie and Miszuk also misled the auditors in early 2004 about the true reason
for the September 1, 2003 credit memos. They told them that Biovail had credited out the old
invoices so that it ‘could issue new invoices that included packaging costs. The truth was that the
Distributor had refused to pay the June 30 invoices and two sets of invoices could not have
duplicate lot numbers on them.

D. Material Misstatements Concerning Unrecognized Foreign Exchange L.oss

125. Concurrent with its improper attempt to record unearned revenue through the
sham bill and hold transaction, Biovail also sought to conceal its weak second quarter 2003
performance by intentionally failing to record in the second quarter of 2003 app;'oximately
$3.9 million in additional losses dué to foreign currency fluctuations.

126. In December 2002 Biovail’s Barbados subsidiary acquired from the
Wellbutrin XL Distributor the Canadian rights to ‘two pharmaceutical .products. Biovail paid a
portion of the consideration in cash and borrowed the balance from the Distributor. Although the
currency for the transaction was Canadian dollars, Biovail’s functional currency is the U.S.
dollar, aﬁd Biovail reports its financial résults in U.S. dollars.

127. The U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to the translation of foreign currency
statements is Statement of Financiall Accounting Standards No. 52, Foreign Currency
Translation, which provides: “All elements of financial statements shall be translated by using a
current exchange rate. For assets and liabilities, the exchange rate at the balance sheet dates shall
be used.” Consistent with this guidance, in its 2002 year-end financial stat‘enients.ﬁled with the
Commission on Form 20-F on May 21, 2003, Biovail correctly reported the outstanding loan
obligation in U.S. dollars by applying the then-current exchange rate.

38



128.  On March 31, 2003, the date of Biovail’s first quarter balance sheet, the Canadian
dollar had sfrengthened against the U.S. dollar since December 31, 2002. Instead of applying the
exchange rate current as of March 31 to translate the outstanding balance due on the loan from
Canadian tq U.S. dollars, Biovail translated the outstanding balance using the same exchange
rate that it had applied in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. As a
result, Biovail’s financial statements for the first quarter of 2003, furnished to the Commission
on Form 6-K on May 30, 2003, overstated net income by about 9%.

129.  In Biovail’s financial statements for the second quarter of 2003, the Company
- repeated the error it had made in the first quarter and again vtranslated the remaining balance into
U.S. dollars using the same exchange rate that Biovail had applied in its annual financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2002, This time, however, the error was not
inadvertent.

130.  On July 8, 2003, early in the quarterly closing process, the controller for the
Barbados subsidiary and Biovail’s senior director of legal accounting, both charteredr accountants
who reported to Miszuk, told Miszuk that the remaining outstanding balance should be adjusted
to reflect the June 30 exchange rate and that doing so would generate an additional cumulative
foreign exchange loss of approximately $9 million.

131.  Nevertheless, Miszuk and Biovail did not record the additional foreign exchange
loss, whose recognition Miszuk knew, or recklessly disregarded, would negatively affect
Biovail’s second quarter financial results and require a restatement of the first quarter financial

statements — something Miszuk did not want to do.
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132. Asa résult, Biovail’s interim financial statements for the quarter ended June 30,
2003, furnished to the Commission on Form 6-K on August 29, 2003, were materially misstated,
intentionally or recklessly. Specifically, for the three-month period ended J une 30, 2003, the
Company’s net loss was understated by about 80%, or approximately $3.9 million, and for the
six-month period ended June 30, 2003, the Company’s net income was overstated by 18%, or
approximately $9.3 million. Although Miszuk knew about or recklessly disregarded the
exchange rate translation error, he nevertheless signed this Form 6-K.

| 133. Miszuk aiso reviewed the July 25 and July 30 management reports and approved

them for circulation to, among others, the Company’s outside auditors during their second
quarter review. These reports present results for b;)th the three months and six months ended
June 30, 2003. As a result of Biovail’s failure to record correctly the foreign exchange loss, the
three-month period is misstated in the reports by about $3.9 million and the six-month period,
which includes the misstatement for the quarter ended March 31, 2003, is misstated by

| approximately $9.3 rﬂillion. These reports also asserted falsely that all figures were in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Miszuk knew, or recklessly disregarded, that the financial
statements in the management reports as well as that representation were materially false and
misleading.

134, The problem continued into the third quarter of 2003 and resulted in an
understatement of quarterly net income of about $3.1 million, or 19%. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2003, the resulting cumulative overstatement of net income was
approximately $6.2 million (the $9.3 million overstatement for the first two quarters less
$3.1 million understatement in the third quarter), or about 9%.
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135. Inits March 3, 2004 year-end and fourth quarter 2003 earnings release, Biovail
announced that, “in the course of preparing its financial statements for the fourth quarter and the
full year 2003, the Company determined that U.S. GAAP requires that the Canadian dollar
liability be translated at current rates.” The release did not state that Miszuk and Biovail had
learned about the issue the previous July. |

136. On May 14, 2004, Biovail furnished to the Commission, on three Forms 6-K/A,
its restated interim financial statements for the first, second, and third quarters of 2003. The
restatements show that, as a result of the failure to record properly the foreign exchange loss,
Biovail’s net income was overstated by about 9% for the first quarter, its net loss was
understated by 80% for the second quarter, and its net income was understated by about 19% for
the third quarter.

137. Like the March 3 earhings release, each Form 6-K/A contained a statement
implying that the error was discovered during the 2003 annual audit: “During the course of the
preparation of its annual consolidated financial statements, the Company determined that it had
applied an inappropriate exchange rate to a Canadian dollar denominated long-term obligation.”
Miszuk had learned about the problem much earlier, in July 2003, but on May 14, 2004 he
nevertheless signed each of these Forms 6-K/A, which Biovail furnished to the Commission the
same day.

138.  The cumulative impact of the misstated foreign exchange loss and the improperly
recognized bill and hold revenue was a total understatement of net loss in the second quarteri

2003 financial statements by approximately 89%.
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E. Melnyk Failed to Disclose his Full Biovail Share Ownership

139.  As aholder of greater than 5% of Biovail’s outstanding shares, Melnyk was under
a legal obligation to make certain public disclosures concemi.ng his stock ownership under
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and related rules. On September 23, 1996, Melnyk settled
four Cayman Island trusts and funded the trusts with Biovail shares that were previously held by
him personally, directly or indirectly. The Biovail shares transferred to the trusts represented
approximately 19% of the outstanding shares of Biovail at that time. Melnyk continued to
exercise coﬁtrol over the Biovail shares in the trusts. Nevertheless, he did not include in his
public filings pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and related rules any mention of his
beneficial ownership of the Biovail shares in the trusts.

Melnvk Had a Beneficial Interest in the Shares Held in the Trusts

140. By 2003, the four trusts’ holdings constituted just under eight percent of the
Biovail common shares outstanding and approximately 30 pefcent of Melnyk’s total Biovail
holdings. Each of the four trusts had a “protector.”

141. The controller of Biovail’s Barbados subsidiary was separately paid by Melnyk to
assiét him with issués concerning the trusts, and assumed the role of protector of one of the trusts
beginning in 2002. She also was a liaison between Melnyk and the trustees of all four trusts as
well as the account representatives on the trusts’ brokerage accounts. She conferred with
Melnyk regularly about the trusts, including their transactions in Biovail securities.

142.  Although the trust documents provide that trustees and the protective committees
have investment power over trust assets, including the Biovail shares, Melnyk continued to make

decisions concerning both the trusts and the shares they held.
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143.  Melnyk decided where the brokerage accounts for the trusts would be held — and
hence where the Biovail stock would be held — and how that Biovail stock would be voted in
Company elections. Melnyk similarly directed when and how the trusts would buy and sell
Biovail stock. |

144, In addition, Melnyk caused the trustees to sell Biovail stock to fund over
$100 million in loans to him from the trusts that he has never repaid. Melnyk knew or should
have known that his requests for loans in certain circumstances could reasonably be expected to
trigger sales by the trusts of Biovail securities.

145.  Melnyk was aware of trading by the trusts in Biovail securities and he could, as a
practical matter, exercise control over it and could have stopped it if he wished.

Melnyk Did Not Disclose His Ownership of the Trust Shares in any of his Filings
Pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act

146.  As beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Biovail shares outstanding, Melnyk
filed his first Schedule 13-D with the Commission on March 30, 1994. He has since filed twenty
three amended Schedules 13-D through January 17, 2007. In none of these filings did he disclose
his beneficial interest in the Biovail shares held by the trusts, or any material increases or decreases
in the trusts’ holdings.

F. Biovail’s Violations of Rule 302(b) of Regulation S-T

147.  Biovail electronically filed with the Commission certain annual reports on Forms
20-F. The Commission staff requested the Company to furnish to the staff manually signed

signature pages or other documents in which the signatories to such electronic filings
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acknowledged or otherwise adopted their signatures that appear in typed form within the
electronic filings. The Company has not complied with that request and is unable to do so.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

148. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

149.  Crombie and Biovail, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer and |
sale of securities, by the use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication
in interstate commerce or by the use of the nﬁails, directly and indirectly, have employed or are
employing devices, schemes and artifices to defraud.

150. Crombie and Biovail, singly or in concert, in the offer and sale of securities, by
the use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce or by the use of the mails, directly and indirectly, have obtained or are obtaining
money and property by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circum.stances under which
they were rﬁade, not misleading, and have engaged or are engaging in transactions, practices or
courses of business which have operated or would operate as a fraud and deceit upon investors.

151. Crombie and Biovail, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer and
salé of securities described herein, have made untrue statements of material fact, or have omitted
to state material facts. Arhong other things, the materially misleading statements or omissions
pertained to Pharmatech’s expenses and liabilities related to the research and development of

certain Biovail products that Crombie and Biovail intentionally did not include on Biovail’s
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interim financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2001, which Biovail
incorporated by reference into the prospectus supplement Idated November 15, 2001.
152. érombie and Biovail knew or were reckless in not knowing of the activities
described above.
153. By reason of the foregoing, Crombie and Biovail have violated, and unless
enjoined will again violate, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of and Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

154.  The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

155. Defendants, singly or in concert,‘ in connection with the purchase and sale of
securities, directly or indirectly, by the use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate
commerce or of the mails, have employed or are employing devices, schemes and artifices to
defraud; have made or are making untrue statements of material fact and have omitted or are
omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under Whicﬁ they were made, not misleading; and have engaged or are engaging
in acts, practices and courses of business which have operated or would operate as a fraud and
deceit upon investors, in violation of Section 10(b) of thé Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and
Rule 10b-5[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

156.  Defendants knew or were reckleés in not knowing of the activities described

above.
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157. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated, and unless enjoined will
again violate, Section 10(b) of the Exch.ange Act[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5[17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5)]. |

158. By reason of the foregoing, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling aided and
abetted Biovail’s violations of, and unless enjoined will again aid and abet violations of, Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5].

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act

159. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147. |

160. Crombie and Miszuk, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, knowingly
circumvented or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal accounting controls and
knowingly falsified, directly or indirectly, or caused to be falsified books, records and accounts
of Biovail that were subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78m(b)(2)(A)].

161. By reason of the foregoing, Crombie and Miszuk have violated, and unless
enjoined will again violate, Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)].

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Rule 13b2-1 of the Exchange Act

162. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.
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163. Crombie and Miszuk, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, falsified or
caused to be falsified the books, records, and accounts of Biovail that were subject to Section
13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)].

164. By reason of the foregoing, Crombie and Miszuk have violated, and unless
enjoined will again violate, Rule 13b2-1 of the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1].

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Rule 13b2-2 of the Exchange Act

165. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

166. Crombie and Miszuk were officers bf Biovail at all relevant times.

167.  As described above, Crombie and Miszuk, directly or indirectly, singly or in
concert, made or caused to be made materially false or misleading statements, or omitted to state
or caused another person to omit to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which sugh statements were made, not misleading to
an accountant, in connection with (i) audits, reviews and examinations of the financial statements
of Biovail.required to be made pursuant to Commission regulations, and (ii) the preparation and
filing by Biovail of documents and reports required to be filed with the Commission.

168. By reason of the foregoing, Crombie and Miszuk have violated, and unless

enjoined will again violate, Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2].
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| SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of and Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 13(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16

169. - The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

170.  Biovail did not file with the Commission such financial r‘epofts as the
Commission has prescribed, and Biovail did not include, in addition to the information expressly
required to be stated in such repoﬁs, such further material information as was necessary to make
the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not
misleading, in violation of Section 13(a) and of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and
Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16 [17 C.F.R." §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-16].

171. By reason of the foregoing, Biovail violated, and Crombie and Miszuk have aided
and abetfed Biovail’s violations of, Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and
Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-16].

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of and Aiding and Abetting Violations
of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act

172.  The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.
173.  Biovail did not;
a. make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and

dispositions of its assets; and
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b. devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurances that;
1. transactions were executed in accordance with management’s
general or specific authorization;’
it traﬁsactions were recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles or any other criteria applicable to such
statements, and to maintain accountability for assets;
1il. access to assets was permitted only in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization; and
iv. the recorded accountability for assets was compared with the
existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action was
taken with respect to any differences, in violation of Sections
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(B)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.
§§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)].
174. By reason of the foregoing, Biovail violated, and Crombie and Miszuk have aided |
and abetted Biovail’s violations of, Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)]. |

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Rule 13a-14

175. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.
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176.  Crombie knew or recklessly disregarded that his certifications of Biohvail’s 2002
and 2003 Forms 20-F were mafterially false and misleading.

177. By reason of the foregoing, Crombie has violated, and unless enjoined will again
violate, Rule 13a-14 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14].

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and Rules 13d-1 and 13d-2

178. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

179.  The common stock of Biovail at all relevant times was registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78l].

180. Pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(d)] and Rules
13d-1 and 13d-2 [17 C.E.R. §§ 240.13d-1 and 240.13d-2], persons who are directly or indirectl.y
the beneficial owners of more than five percent of the outstanding shares of a class of voting
equity securities registered under the Exchange Act are required to file a Schedule 13D ‘Within
ten days of the date on which their ownership exceeds five percent, and to notify the issuer and
the Commission of any material increases or decreases in the percentage of beneficial ownership
by filing an amended Schedule 13D. The Schedule 13D filing requirement applies both to
individuals and to two or more persons who act as a group for the purpose of acquiring, holding,
or disposing of securities of an issuer.

181. Aé described above, Melnyk was at all relevant times a beneficial owner of more

than 5 percent of Biovail’s shares. In addition to the shares that he held in his own name, as a
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result of his investment and voting authority over the shares held in the trusts, he also was a
beneficial owner of those Biovail shares.

182. Melnyk and the trusts also were sufficiently interrelated that they constituted a
group for the purposes of the Section 13(d) and the Schedule 13D filing requirement.

183.  Accordingly, Melnyk was under an obligation to file with the Commission true
and accurate reports with fespect to his ownership of the Biovail shares held by the trusts and
any material increases or decreases in the percentage of such ownership, pursuant to Section
13(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(d)] and Rules 13d-1 and 13d-2 [17 C.F.R.

§§ 240.13d-1 and 240.13d-2]. He did not do so.

184. By reason of the foregoing, Melnyk violated and, unless enjoined, will again
violate Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78m(a)] and Rules 13d-1 and 13d-2
thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13d-1 and 240.13d-2].

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Rule 302(b) of Regulation S-T

185. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 147.

186. Biovail did not retain and has not produced to the Commission staff upon request
manually signed signature pages or other documents authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within its electronic filings on Form 20-F.

187. By reason of the foregoing, Biovail has violated, and unless enjoined will again

violate, Rule 302(b) of Regulation S-T [17 C.F.R. § 232.302(b)].
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests a Final Judgment:
L
Permanently enjoining Crombie and Biovail, their agents, servants, employees, and

attorneys and all persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of

the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from future violations of

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].
IL

Permanently enjoining Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, Hdwling, and Biovail, their agents,
servants, employees, and attorneys and all persons in active concert or participation with them
who receive actual notice of the injupction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them
from future violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-
5) [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling from aiding or abetting
future violations of Sections 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

IIL.

Permanently enjoining Biovail, its agents, servants, employees, and attorneys and all
persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the injunction
by personal service or otherwise, and .eéch of them from future violations of Sections 13(a) and
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A) and
78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and
240.13a-16] and Rule 302(b) of Regulation S-T [17 C.F.R. § 232.302(b)].
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IV.

Permanently enjoining Crombie and Miszuk, their agents, servants, employees, and
attorneys and all persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of
the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from future violations of
Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act[15 U.S.C. § 78m(5)] and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2
[17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-2], and from aiding and abetting future violations of
Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a),
78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-16 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-
20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-16].

V.

Permanently enjoining Crombie, his agents, servants, employees, and attorneys and all
persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of the injunction by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them _from future violations of Rule 13a-14 of the
Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14].

VL

Permanently enjoining Melnyk, his agents, servants, employees, and attorneys and all
persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of the injunction by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them from future violations of Section 13(d) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(d)] and Rules 13d-1 and 13d-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13d-1 and

240.13d-2].
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VII.

Ordering Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling to disgorge any ill-gotten

gains from the conduct alieged herein and to pay prejudgment interest thereon.
VIIIL.

Imposing civil penalties upon Biovail and Crombie pursuant to Section 20(d) of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and upon Biovail, Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling
pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)].

IX. |

Permanently barring Crombie, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Securities Act {15 U.S.C.
§ 77t(e)], and Melnyk, Crombie, Miszuk, and Howling, pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)], from serving as an officer or director of any issuer that
has a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781] or that

is required to file reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 780(d)].
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X.

Granting such other and further relief as to this Court seems just and proper.

Mark K. Schonfeld

Regional Director

Attomeys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

3 World Financial Center

New York, NY 10281-1022

(212) 336-1020

Dated: New York, New York
March,Z%, 2008

Of Counsel:

Andrew M. Calamari
Robert J. Keyes
Todd D. Brody
Celeste A. Chase
Catherine Smith
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